# COMPARATIVE STUDY OF INDOOR AIR CONTAMINANTS IN DIFFERENT STAGES OF NEW BUILDING OCCUPANCY: WORK ENVIRONMENT ASSESSMENT

## NOR MOHD RAZIF BIN NORAINI

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirement for the award of the Degree of Master of Mechanical Engineering

> Faculty of Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering Universiti Tun Hussein Onn Malaysia

> > MAY 2015

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author would like to express his sincere appreciation to his supervisor, Associate Professor Engr. Dr. Abdul Mutalib bin Leman for the support given throughout the duration for this research.

The cooperation and grant allocation given by the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Malaysia is also highly appreciated. Appreciation also goes to the lovely family, friends and everyone involved directly or indirectly towards the compilation of this thesis.



#### ABSTRACT

Indoor Air Quality (IAQ) is a part of Building Environment. Nowadays, the construction of new building took place over the world. Upon new building occupancy, a lot of indoors material was used without IAQ concern. This study has been conducted in a new constructed building of the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Malaysia. The goal of the study is to monitor on the level of IAQ parameters including chemical and physical parameters within four consequent stages which are before furniture install, after furniture install and during one and three month occupancy. The indoor parameters have been measured consist of nine parameters including of Carbon Dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), Carbon Monoxide (CO), Total Volatile Organic Compounds (TVOC), Formaldehyde, Respirable Particulates ( $PM_{10}$ ), Ozone, Relative Humidity (RH), Temperature and Air Movement. The interaction between Malaysian and international standard was referred and utilized in collecting the data and analyzing of the findings. There was a significant correlation between the high values of RH, Formaldehyde and PM<sub>10</sub> where (r 0.324, p < 0.05), (r 0.344, p < 0.05) and (r 0.319, p<0.05) with extension of phases of new building occupancy respectively. This study established significant different on Formaldehyde and Particulate Matter (PM<sub>10</sub>) concentration level as go along with the building occupancy. These finding indicated that furniture and fittings, indoor materials and human population has a potential sources of indoor air contaminants. It is recommended that the management should be aware to their indoor air status to protect the occupant from the risk of unwanted exposure especially during the early stage of building occupancy. Finally this research has fully supported the Malaysian need to formulate of future guideline on IAQ commissioning and maintenance of new building occupancy.



#### ABSTRAK

Kualiti Udara Dalaman (IAQ) adalah sebahagian daripada persekitaran bangunan. Pada masa kini, pembinaan bangunan baru mengambil tempat di seluruh dunia. Terdapat banyak penggunaan bahan tanpa mengambil kira kepentingan IAQ sebaik sahaja bangunan baru diduduki. Kajian ini telah dijalankan di sebuah bangunan baru yang dibina di Institut Keselamatan dan Kesihatan Pekerjaan (NIOSH) Malaysia. Matlamat utama kajian ini adalah untuk memantau tahap beberapa parameter IAQ termasuk parameter fizikal dan kimia di dalam empat peringkat awal bangunan diduduki termasuk sebelum perabot dipasang, selepas pemasangan perabot dan semasa satu dan tiga bulan bangunan diduduki. Di antara parameter dalaman yang diukur terdiri daripada sembilan parameter termasuk Karbon Dioksida (CO<sub>2</sub>), Karbon Monoksida (CO), Jumlah Sebatian Organik Meruap (TVOC), Formaldehid, Zarahan Ternafaskan (PM<sub>10</sub>), Ozon, Kelembapan Relatif (RH), Suhu Udara dan Pergerakan Udara. Interaksi di antara standard Malaysia dan antarabangsa dirujuk dan digunapakai bagi pengumpulan serta penilaian data dan penemuan. Terdapat hubungan yang ketara di antara peningkatan RH, Formaldehid dan PM<sub>10</sub> menunjukkan (r 0.324, p <0.05), (r 0.344, p <0.05) dan (r 0.319, p<0.05) dengan lanjutan masa bangunan baru diduduki. Kajian ini memperlihatkan perbezaan yang ketara di antara kepekatan Formaldehid dan Zarahan Ternafaskan (PM<sub>10</sub>) sepanjang fasa bangunan baru diduduki. Keputusan kajian ini menunjukkan bahawa perabot dan kelengkapan, bahan-bahan dalaman bangunan dan populasi manusia mungkin menjadi sumber potensi bahan pencemar udara dalaman bangunan. Pihak pengurusan bangunan perlu sedar terhadap status udara dalaman mereka untuk melindungi penghuni daripada risiko pendedahan yang tidak diingini terutama semasa peringkat awal bangunan baru diduduki. Akhir sekali kajian ini telah menyokong sepenuhnya keperluan Malaysia untuk merangka garis panduan pentauliahan dan penyelenggaraan IAQ bagi bangunan baru yang diduduki pada masa hadapan.



# CONTENTS

	TITLE					
	DECLARATION					
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS					
	ABSTRACT					
	CONTENTS					
	LIST OF TABLES					
	LIST OF FIGURES					
	LIST	OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	xiv			
	LIST	OF APPENDICES	xvi			
CHAPTER 1	INTR	ODUCTION	1			
	1.1	Introduction	1			
	1.2	Background of the problem	2			
	1.2.1	Safety and health awareness in workplace	4			
	1.2.2	Industrial accidents occurrence	5			
	1.2.3	Un-conducive work environment	5			
	1.3	The problem statement	7			
	1.4	Research objectives and goals	8			
	1.5	Scope of the research	8			
	1.6	Significance of the study	9			
	1.6.1	Industry (employer and employees)	10			
	1.6.2	Government	10			
	1.6.3	Education Sector	11			
	1.7	Limitations	11			
	1.8	Organization of the thesis	12			
CHAPTER 2	LITE	RATURE REVIEW	14			
	2.1	Introduction	14			

	2.2	Occupational safety and health in general	14
	2.3	Sources of IAQ problem worldwide	15
	2.4	Indoor Air Quality In The New Building	19
	2.5	Indoor air chemical and biological parameters	23
	2.6	Health issue due to indoor air pollutants	25
	2.7	Practical tools	29
	2.8	Indoor air quality assessment	30
	2.8.1	IAQ assessment process	30
	2.8.2	Measurement techniques of IAQ	31
	2.9	Industrial air pollution risk assessment and risk	31
		management	
	2.10	Summary	32
CHAPTER 3	METH	IODOLOGY	36
	3.1	Introduction	36
	3.2	Research Framework	36 A A
	3.3	System identification step : problem on industrial	39
		air pollution	
	3.4	Study Location	40
	3.5	Study Design	41
	3.6	Sampling	44
	3.6.1	Study Sample	44
	3.6.2	Sampling frame and scope	45
	3.6.3	Scope of the assessment	46
	3.6.4	Standards and guidelines	46
	3.7	Identification of risk factor contributes to IAQ	47
		chemical parameters exposures	
	3.8	Working environment data measurements	48
	3.8.1	Measurement on workers exposure in work	49
		environment	
	3.9	Instrumentation and sensor location	50
<b>CHAPTER 4</b>	RESU	LTS AND DISCUSSIONS	53
	4.1	Introduction	53

	4.2	Measurement of nine IAQ parameter in new	54
		building	
	4.2.1	Physical parameters	56
	4.2.2	Chemical parameters	57
	4.3	Identifying of nine IAQ parameters data	59
		differences between three phases of new building	
		occupancy	
	4.3.1	CO <sub>2</sub> concentrations	60
	4.3.2	CO concentrations	61
	4.3.3	RH percentage	62
	4.3.4	Temperature	64
	4.3.5	TVOC concentrations	65
	4.3.6	Formaldehyde concentrations	67
	4.3.7	Ozone Concentrations	69
	4.3.8	PM <sub>10</sub> concentrations	70
	4.3.9	Air Movement	71
	4.3.10	Statistical analysis of mean concentration	72
	4.4	Determination of the differences of five selected	73
		IAQ parameters including Temperature, RH, Air	
		Movements, Formaldehyde and PM <sub>10</sub> within first	
		three stages with the following phase which are	
		three months building occupancy	
	4.4.1	The mean concentrations within four phases of	74
		building occupancy	
	4.4.2	The correlation between RH, Air Movements,	79
		Formaldehyde and $PM_{10}$ within four phases of	
		building occupancy	
	4.5	Comparison data of five IAQ parameters on the	81
		fourth phase of building occupancy with the	
		exposure limit as stated in ICOP-IAQ 2010, by	
		DOSH Malaysia.	
CHAPTER 5	CONC	LUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	84
	5.1	Introduction	84

APPEN	NDICES	<b>98</b>
REFERENCES		
5.6	Recommendations for Further Study	86
5.5	Conclusion	86
5.3	General recommendations	85
5.2	Commissioning of new building	84

## LIST OF TABLES

1.1	Key economic data 2009-2013	2
1.2	The number and value of project awarded	3
	2011/2013	
1.3	The statistic for accident causes related to work	6
	environment in 2012	
2.1	Estimated potential productivity gains from	21
	improvements in indoor environments	
2.2	Representative impacts of IAQ problems	22
2.3	Elements of a building that affect IAQ	23
2.4	Adverse health effects and exposure limits relating	27
	to gases and vapors	
2.5	Gaps among research on IAQ in new buildings	33
3.1	List of Areas Sampled	44
3.2	Acceptable range for specific physical parameters	47
3.3P E	List of indoor air contaminants and the acceptable	47
	limits	
3.4	Sampling duration	52
4.1	The mean of chemical and physical parameters in	55
	each stage of measurement	
4.2	The mean of Temperature, RH and Air	56
	Movements and PM <sub>10</sub> between four consequent	
	phases	
4.3	The mean of chemical parameters in each stage	58
4.4	The ANOVA table show results analyzed for all	73
	nine IAQ Parameters	

4.5	The average measurement of Temperature, RH,	74
	Air Movement Formaldehyde and PM <sub>10</sub> during	
	measuring period	
4.6	The mean of Temperature, RH, Formaldehyde,	75
	Air Movements and PM <sub>10</sub> between four	
	consequent phases	
4.7	The ANOVA table show the results analyzed for	79
	for all	
	selected five IAQ Parameters	
4.8	The results analyzed from Spearman's correlation	80
	analyses between RH and Phase	
4.9	The results analyzed from Spearman's correlation	80
	analyses between PM <sub>10</sub> and Phase	
4.10	The results analyzed from Spearman's correlation	81
	analyses between Formaldehyde and Phase	
4.11	The results analyzed from Spearman's correlation	81
	analyses between Formaldehyde and RH	
4.12	Comparison with the standards of ICOP-IAQ, By	82
	DOSH Malaysia	

xi

## LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	NIOSH Tower building in Bandar Baru Bangi,	9	
	Selangor		
1.2a	NIOSH Tower before furniture install	11	
1.2b	NIOSH Tower after furniture install	11	
1.2c	NIOSH Tower after 1 month occupancy	12	
1.3	The Structure of the Thesis	12	
2.1	The Evolution on OSH	15	
2.2	IAQ audit methodology	29	
3.1	Research Framework	37	
3.2	Dependent and Independent Variables	39	
3.3a	NIOSH Tower office facilities setting	41	
3.3b	NIOSH Tower training facilities setting	41	
3.4	Indoor air parameter categories	43	
3.5	NIOSH Tower – Level 6 of office setting	45	
3.6	Marking sampling point at level 4 of training	46	
	facilities		
3.7	Data Measurement Process	49	
3.8	Step of IAQ chemical parameters exposure	50	
	measurement		
3.9	List of instrumentation used for exposure	51	
	measurement		
4.1	Monitoring phases and periods	54	
4.2	Monitoring results (Mean) for seven selected IAQ	55	
	Parameters in New Building		
4.3	CO <sub>2</sub> mean concentrations in every phase	60	
4.4	CO mean concentrations in every phase 6		

4.5	Mean of RH percentage in every phase	63
4.6	Mean of temperature in every phase	64
4.7	TVOC mean concentrations in every phase	66
4.8	Formaldehyde mean concentrations in every phase	67
4.9	Ozone mean concentrations in every phase	69
4.10	PM <sub>10</sub> mean concentrations in every phase	70
4.11	Mean of Air Movement in every phase	71
4.12	Mean of RH in four phases	75
4.13	Mean of Temperature in four phases	76
4.14	Mean of Formaldehyde concentrations in four	77
	phases	
4.15	Mean of PM <sub>10</sub> concentrations in four phases	78
4.16	Mean of Air Movements in four phases	78



## LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ASHRAE	-	American Society of Heating, Refrigeration, and Air	
		Conditioning Engineers	
BTEX	-	Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, and Xylene	
CIDB	-	Construction Industry Development Board	
СО	-	Carbon monoxide	
CO2	-	Carbon dioxide	
СОР	-	Code of Practice	
CS	-	Cases Reported	
DOSH	-	Department of Occupational Safety and Health	
EPA	-	Environmental Protection Agency	
FDI	-	Foreign Direct Investment	
FLEC	-	Field and Laboratory Emission Cell	
FMA	ς	Factory and Machinery Act 1967	
GDP	)	Gross Domestic Product	
HIRARC	-	Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment and Risk Control	
HVAC	-	Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning	
IAC	-	Indoor Air Contaminants	
IAP	-	Indoor Air Parameters	
IAQ	-	Indoor Air Quality	
IARC	-	International Agency for Research on Cancer	
ICOP- IAQ	-	Industry Code of Practice on Indoor Air Quality	
IPCC	-	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change	
ISO	-	International Standard Organization	
JRC	-	Joint Research Centre	
LFPR	-	Labour Force Participation Rates	



MC	-	Moisture Content	
MS	-	Malaysian Standard	
MVAC	-	Mechanical Ventilation and Air Conditioning	
NIOSH	-	National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health	
NO <sub>2</sub>	-	Nitrogen Dioxide	
OSH	-	Occupational Safety and Health	
OSHA	-	Occupational Safety and Health Act 1994 (Act 514)	
PDCS	-	Permanent Disability Cases Paid	
$PM_{10}$	-	Particulate Matter	
ppb	-	part per billion	
ppm	-	part per million	
PRD	-	Pearl River Delta	
RH	-	Relative Humidity	
SBS	-	Sick Building Syndrome	
SMACNA	-	Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors National	
		Association	
SMI	-	Small and Medium Industries	
SO <sub>2</sub>	-	Sulphur Dioxide	
SOCSO	-	Social Security Organization	
SPM	ς	Suspended Particulate Matter	
SVOCs	)	Semi Volatile Organic Compounds	
TBC	-	Total Bacteria Count	
TFC	-	Total Fungus Count	
TSP	-	Total Suspended Particulate	
TVOC	-	Total Volatile Organic Compounds	
USECHH	-	Use and Standard of Exposure of Chemicals Hazardous to	
		Health Regulation,2000	
UTHM	-	Universiti Tun Hussein Onn Malaysia	
VOCs	-	Volatile Organic Compounds	
VVOCs	-	Very Volatile Organic Compounds	
WHO	-	World Health Organization	



## LIST OF APPENDICES

#### APPENDIX TITLE PAGE List of publications 98 А List of presentations В 100 С List of building layout plan 101 D List of instrument calibration certificates 108 Sampling and Monitoring photos Е 116 F Approval Letter 119 PERPUSTAKAAN TUNKU TU 120 G Raw Data 122

## **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the background of the research problem is explained. The introduction to safety and health issues in industries are identified and related activities were discussed. Initially, it looks into major related economic development activities, social, and policy issues in the Malaysian scenario and how these issues relate to the safety and health problems. This chapter proceed with the problem statement for the study, based on the background provided, as well as the resulting research questions, objectives, limitations and the significance of the study. This chapter also highlighted the management of the whole thesis.



## **1.2** Background of the problem

Malaysia is one of the developing countries with a population of 30.0 million (Malaysia, 2013). Malaysia's population in 2009 was 27.9 million and having a labor force of 11.315 million. In 2013 the population increased to 30.0 million and labor force increased to 14.246 million, a growth close to 8.5% with 4.5-5.0% of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth. Table 1.1 shows Key Malaysian Economic Data from 2009 to 2013 extracted from the Malaysian Economic In Brief 2009/2013. (Malaysia, 2013)

YEAR	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Area (km <sup>2</sup> )			330,803		
Population (million) Total	27.9	28.3	28.9	29.3	30.0 <sup>3</sup>
Average Annual Population Growth Rate (%)	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.31
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) GDP at current prices (RM million)	679,938	765,965	884,456	941,237	987,675 <sup>1</sup>
GDP at constant prices (RM million)	522,001	559,554	711,351	751,471	786,596 <sup>1</sup>
GDP Growth (%)	(1.6)	7.2	5.1	5.6	4.5~5.0 <sup>1</sup>
Employment Labour Force ('000) Employed ('000) Unemployed ('000) Labour Force Participation Rates, LFPR (%) Unemployment Rate (%)	11,315.3 10,897.3 418.0 62.9 3.7	11,517.2 11,129.4 387.9 62.7 3.4	12,505.8 12,123.0 382.9 64.1 3.1	13,119.6 12,723.2 396.3 65.5 3.0	14,246.0 <sup>2</sup> 12,851.8 <sup>2</sup> 444.5 <sup>2</sup> 65.6 <sup>2</sup> 3.3 <sup>2</sup>
Estimates by Ministry of Finance, Malaysia As September 2013 As Quarter three of year 2013					
Negative					

Table 1.1: Key economic data 2009-2013 (The Malaysian Economy in Brief, 2009/2013(Malaysia, 2013))





Malaysia is rapidly growth in development of construction industries. The construction industry makes a significant contribution to the quality of life in the country. Over the past decade, the sector annually accounted for about 3-5% of the GDP and provided employment for about 10% of the total labor force. In addition, the construction industry also realizes many aspects of government policies aimed to develop the nation include to building of houses, schools, hospitals, roads, airports, ports and other transportation infrastructure. Although the construction sector is vital to the achievement of national socio-economic development goals of providing employment, shelter and infrastructure, it can be a significant source of negative impacts on the physical environment. Among the major impacts associated with the industry are soil erosion and sedimentation, flash floods, destruction of vegetation and dust pollution. Other impacts associated with the industry include depletion of natural resources and the use of building materials that are harmful to human health.

Based on Construction Industry Development Board (CIDB, 2013), Construction projects in Malaysia has been categorized by the product usage and not by construction activities. Table 1.2 below shows the number and value of project awarded as of September 2013.

Year/Type of Work	Total Number of Projects	Total Project Value (RM m)	
2013	4,253 <sup>1</sup>	66,787.62 <sup>1</sup>	
New Project	3,262 <sup>1</sup>	60,081.12 <sup>1</sup>	
Repair	222¹	961.58 <sup>1</sup>	
Upgrading	370 <sup>1</sup>	2,742.36 <sup>1</sup>	
2012	7,542	122,720.58	
New Project	5,947	112,134.65	
Repair	246	1,605.15	
Upgrading	516	3,143.38	
2011	7,585	99,739.11	
New Project	6,140	89,161.83	
Repair	246	1,205.35	
Upgrading	520	4,711.97	
1			

Table 1.2: The number and value of project awarded 2011/2013 (Construction Statistics Quarterly Bulletin, CIDB, 2013)

As September 2013



The categories of constructions in Malaysia were categorized as Residential, Non-Residential, Social Amenities and Infrastructure (CIDB, 2013). From the given data, the number of new project covered almost 80% of the total new project every year. It was clearly shown the construction of new building in Malaysia is become the main building construction as compared to repair, upgrading and maintenance. This number of project will be concurrently increased with the rapidly growth of Malaysia economy (CIDB, 2014).

Although Malaysian industries growths are rapid and their expansion are fast, they still face challenges that influence their competitiveness. The current scenario, depicts the Malaysian industries are now facing challenges on safety and health awareness at workplace. This could be the evident from number of industrial accidents occurrences and the un-conducive work environment reported (SOCSO, 2012).

#### **1.2.1** Safety and health awareness in workplace

The occupational safety and health policy is to provide a conducive working environment to safety and health in the workplace. Reasonable precautionary steps are taken so as to ensure that workers are prevented from injury or health hazard due to work activities being carried out by Department of Occupational Safety & Health (DOSH, 2009). Managing occupational safety and health at the work place is no different than managing other aspect of business. The exception is that it requires the commitment of the proprietor or owner to ensure the following three conditions at workplace as stated by Occupational Safety and Health Act (DOSH, 1994) exist. These are:

- i) Should have a policy statement on occupational safety and health;
- Should have a plan for the implementation of Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment and Risk Control (HIRARC) including training and auditing and;
- iii) Should take remedial action for any improvements to be made.

If safety and health awareness in workplace are improved, the number of accidents can be reduced or decreased (Nicholas and Wangel, 1991). This must be done through department influence which continuously operates on daily routine basis at workplace that can be implemented through:

- Training to improve knowledge, attitude, and management that can result in good work practice and safety procedures. It is apparent that industries need the above three conditions to achieve ideal safety and health at workplace;
- ii) Defining clear responsibilities and work ethics;
- iii) Identifying and introducing practical solutions to the problem related to safety and health.

The implications for safety and health practice, the formulation of legislation and its enforcement in a global economy are considerable. Tools, machine, processes, raw materials, plant, buildings and the management system will have to be designed so that they are intrinsically safe and non-hazardous for the users. Safety and health will have to be integrated as part of the production process with its own quality assurance system. (Brune *et al.*, 1997. ISO, 2009). This will require managers and supervisors to be highly trained in the management and administration of safety and health system and programs. As legislation continues to develop for the recognition, assessment and control of risks in the workplace; at the planning stage and at the design stage for products and equipment, the knowledge and skills of those involved will also have to be developed. To meet these demands, the training education on safety and health will eventually become a new sub industrial sector that will be closely associated with engineering and assist in identifying cost-effective ways of achieving control of risks.

#### **1.2.2** Industrial accidents occurrence

Overall, the number of industrial accident occurrence is the major indicator for evaluation of the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) program. The numbers of industrial accident for 2008 of were 54,133. In year 2012 the number was increased to 61,551. The number of occupational accidents reported increased by 7,418 cases or 13.7% within five years elapsed. From the total number of accidents reported in year 2012, 16,633 cases were due to indoor working environment including cases of environmentally factors such as ventilation, lighting, temperature and noise by Social Security Organization (SOCSO, 2012). Employers and employees really need to combine their efforts to reduce the number of accidents in industry specifically in the indoor workplace.



### 1.2.3 Unconducive work environment

There are many questions about the safety and health aspect of the working environment, and workers. Workers who spend about a quarter of their lives in the workplace must be aware of this situation (Brune *et al.*, 1997). Ensuring a safe and healthy workplace require a joint effort with input from management and employees. While undoubtedly a win-win proposition, it is certainly not easy to ensure a safe and healthy workplace (Pingle, 2009). SOCSO categorized the work environment into three categories that are outdoor, indoor and underground. Table 1.3 shows the number of accident cases that are related to work environment.

Table 1.3: The statistic for accident causes related to work environment in 2012 (Table 10 - SOCSO, 2012)

	Accident Causes	-	
	Work Environment	CR	PDCS
Indoor			
•	Floors	690	190
•	Confined quarters	1,608	375
	Stairs	381	101
•	Others traffic and working surfaces	2,907	632
•	<ul> <li>Floor opening and wall openings</li> <li>Environmental factor(lighting.</li> </ul>	1,050	307
•		16	4
•	ventilation, temperatures, noise, etc) Others	9,344	1,933

Note: CR – Cases Reported

PDCS- Permanent Disability Cases Paid

From the SOCSO Malaysia report (SOCSO, 2012), there are significant problems concerning working environment (i.e. environmental factors: Lighting, ventilation, temperatures and noise). A total of 16 cases were reported in year 2012. The number of industrial accidents by causing agent (i.e.: dusts, gases, liquids and chemicals) excluding explosives recorded 342 cases in 2012. The number has increased from year to year. The air borne contamination is one of the hazards that is associated in work environment. Failure to properly monitor measure and report hazardous airborne emission can cost a manufacturing company considerable amount of money to pay the associated fines as reported in Danbury, Connecticut, the United States of America. A company was fined \$218,000 in levied reported in the Environmental Protection Agency (Goetsch, 2008).





the poor quality of indoor air compared to the outdoor air has resulted in a significant amount of research on the adverse health effects and mechanism of action of indoor air pollutants (Zummo and Karol, 1996).

### **1.3** The problem statement

Air pollution in the past has not been regarded as serious problems in Malaysia. However, since the shift in the nation's development strategy from agriculture to manufacturing and heavy industries, there has been an increase in the generation of pollutants and industrial waste thus resulting in the deterioration of the country's air quality. This has become a serious concern particularly when the climate in this part of the world has shown to have a high potential of air pollution. This is evident from a study done for long term observation on the trends of major air pollutants in Malaysia which includes Nitrogen Dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>), Carbon Monoxide (CO), ground level Ozone (O<sub>3</sub>), Total Suspended Particulate (TSP) particularly Respirable Particulate or Particulate Matter (PM<sub>10</sub>) and Sulphur Dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) emitted from industrial and urban areas from early 1970s (Latif *et al.*, 2006). The data showed that the states of atmospheric environment in Malaysia, particularly within industrialized areas were caused both by emissions from local activities and transboundry. Local emissions are from the pollutants that come from local activities and transboundry emissions are from the neighboring countries like Indonesia, Thailand and Philipines (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2006).



The Malaysian Government has introduced a guideline on monitoring of airborne contaminants for chemicals hazardous to health by DOSH Malaysia 2002. However from the observations and case studies conducted, it was noticed that monitoring process has not been given priority due to insufficient of measuring equipment, hence the toxic gases were not measured in the work place (Leman *et al.*, 2006, 2008 and 2009).In providing solutions to traceable problems, it is necessary to conduct a monitoring of IAQ and the assessment in the building.

Hence the primary research questions being investigated in this research are:

 Does the introduction of IAQ assessment, measurements and monitoring program able to improve the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) factor related to indoor air exposure in the building?  Does the indoor air pollution bring in during new building construction can be mitigated as earlier stage of development phase in the construction industries?

#### 1.4 Research objectives and goals

The main objectives of the research are follows:-

- To measure the nine IAQ parameters during commissioning of new building (The phases can be before furniture install, after furniture install and during one month occupancy). In addition to observed the potential sources of indoor air exposures by strategically plan the monitoring program.
- ii) To identify the nine IAQ parameters data differences among the above three phases of building occupancy. Performing the comparison data among the three phases will significantly show the importance of controlling the factors contributes to indoor air exposures from the earlier stage of building occupancy.
- iii) To analyze the differences of the three phases data with the following phase which is three months building occupancy for five selected IAQ parameters including Temperature, Relative Humidity (RH), Air Movements, Formaldehyde and PM<sub>10</sub> and determine the correlation of effect of human activity in contributing to the Indoor Air Contaminants (IAC).

### 1.5 Scope of the research

A building of the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Malaysia was selected as sample for this research for its nature of a typical office and training center. Besides that, NIOSH has new building in placed called NIOSH Tower as the reference of this study. Refer to the below figure 1.1 show the NIOSH Tower Building after completion of the construction. The proposed allocation of the ninestorey building facilities represent the typical setting of Malaysian offices. Comparison among the setting can be studied and relation can be achieved.



Figure 1.1: NIOSH Tower building in Bandar Baru Bangi, Selangor

Since NIOSH Tower is located at the urban city of Bandar Baru Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia. It was also designed with the new architecture plan as this building construction completed in year 2011. Data gathered in this research in some way can be generalized with other Malaysian buildings which has similar designed and setting with NIOSH Tower.



The study identified the Indoor Air Contaminants (IAC) including physical and chemical parameters as the subjects to be monitored. A total of nine parameters were selected based on the establish standard available in Malaysia called ICOP-IAQ by Department of Occupational Safety and Health (DOSH), Malaysia. The nine IAQ parameters including of Temperature, Relative Humidity (RH), Air Movements, Carbon Dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), Carbon Monoxide (CO), Total Volatile Organic Compounds (TVOC), Ozone, Formaldehyde and Particulates Matter (PM<sub>10</sub>).

## **1.6** Significance of the study

The study is anticipated to benefits three sectors namely the industry, (employer and employees), the government and the education sector.

## **1.6.1** Industry (employer and employees)

#### REFERENCES

American Society Of Heating Refrigerating And Air Conditioning Engineers, ASHRAE (2010). Ventilation and Acceptable Indoor Air Quality in Low-Rise Residential Buildings. Atlanta: ANSI/ASHRAE Standard 62.2-2010.

- American Society Of Heating Refrigerating And Air Conditioning Engineers, ASHRAE (2013). *Ventilation for Acceptable Indoor Air Quality*. Atlanta: ANSI/ASHRAE Standard 62.1-2010
- American Society Of Heating Refrigerating And Air Conditioning Engineers, ASHRAE (2013). Thermal Environmental Conditions For Human Occupancy. Atlanta: ANSI/ASHRAE Standards 55-2010
- Assimakopoulos, V. D., Saraga, D., Helmis, C. G., Stathopoulou, O. I. & Halios, C.
   H. (2008). An Experimental Study of The Indoor Air Quality in Areas of Different Use. *Global NEST Journal*, 10, 192-200

Boeniger, M. F. (1995). Use of ozone generating devices to improve indoor air quality. *American Industrial Hygiene Association*, 56(6), 590-598.

- Böhm, M., Salem, M. Z. M., & Srba, J. (2012). Formaldehyde emission monitoring from a variety of solid wood, plywood, blockboard and flooring products manufactured for building and furnishing materials. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 221-222, 68–79.
- Brown, V. M., Crump, D. R., & Gardiner, D. (1991). The Effect of Temperature and Humidity on the Chemical Structure of Urea Formaldehyde Foam. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 33, 1-15.
- Brune, D., Gehardsson, G., Crockford, G.W., & D'Auria Denis (1997). The Workplace. International Occupational Safety and Health Information Centre (CIS) / Scandinavian Science Publisher. Geneva/Oslo. pp. 1-6



- Cabral, J. P. S. (2010). Can we use indoor fungi as bioindicators of indoor air quality? Historical perspectives and open questions. *Science of the Total Environment*, 408, 4285–4295.
- Chan, W., Lee, S. C., Chen, Y., Mak, B., Wong, K., Chan, C. S., Guo, X. (2009). Indoor air quality in new hotels' guest rooms of the major world factory region. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 28, 26–32.
- Cheong, K. W., & Chong, K. Y. (2001). Development and application of an indoor air quality audit to an air-conditioned building in Singapore. *Building and Environment*, 36, 181–188.
- Cho, Y. H., & Liu, M. (2010). Correlation between minimum airflow and discharge air temperature. *Building and Environment*, 45, 1601–1611.
- Cho, Y. H., & Liu, M. (2010). Correlation between minimum airflow and discharge air temperature. *Building and Environment*, *45*(7), 1601-1611.
- Construction Industry Development Board , CIDB (2013). Construction Quarterly Statistical Bulletin. Malaysia
- Construction Industry Development Board, CIDB (2014). Construction Quarterly Statistical Bulletin. Malaysia
- Deng, B., & Kim, C. N. (2007). CFD simulation of VOCs concentrations in a resident building with new carpet under different ventilation strategies. *Building and Environment*, 42, 297–303.
- Department of Occupational Safety and Health, DOSH (1967). Factory and Machinery Act And Regulations. 20<sup>th</sup> ed. Ministry of Human Resources Malaysia: MDC Publishers Sdn. Bhd.
- Department of Occupational Safety and Health, DOSH (1994). Occupational Safety
   & Health Act And Regulations. 22<sup>nd</sup> ed. Ministry of Human Resources
   Malaysia: MDC Publishers Sdn. Bhd.
- Department of Occupational Safety and Health, DOSH (2002). Guideline on Monitoring of Airborne Contaminants for Chemicals Hazardous to Health; Under the Occupational Safety and Health (Use and Standard of Exposure of Chemicals Hazardous to Health Regulation 2000). Ministry of Human Resources Malaysia. Pertubuhan Kebajikan dan Sukan DOSH.



- Department of Occupational Safety and Health, DOSH (2009). Occupational Disease Statistics 1997-2009. Malaysia: DOSH Website 'www.dosh.gov.my'
- Department of Occupational Safety and Health, DOSH (2010). *Industry Code of Practice on Indoor Air Quality (ICOP-IAQ)*. Ministry of Human Resources Malaysia. Pertubuhan Kebajikan dan Sukan DOSH.
- Dols, W. S., & Persily, A. K. (1995). A Study of Ventilation Measurement in an Office Building. Airflow Performance of Building Envelopes, Components, and Systems, 23–46.
- Dols, W. S., Persily, A. K., & Nabinger, S. J. (1995). Indoor Air Quality Commissioning of a New Office Building. 3rd National Conference on Building Commissioning. Milwaukee. National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), pp. 1–7
- Emmerich, S. J., Gorfain, J. E., & Howard-Reed, C. (2003). Air and pollutant transport from attached garages to residential living spaces–literature review and field tests. *International Journal of Ventilation*, 2(3), 265-276.
- Environmental Protection Agency, EPA (1991). *Sick Building Syndrome*. United States: Indoor Air Facts No.4 (revised)
- Fisk, W. J., & Rosenfeld, A. H. (1997). Estimates of improved productivity and health from better indoor environments. *Indoor air*, 7(3), 158-172.
- Friend, M. A., & Khon, J. P. (2007). Fundamentals of Occupational safety and Health. 4<sup>th</sup> ed. Maryland: The Scarecrow Press. pp. 1-7.
- Godish, T. (1989). Effect of ambient environmental factors on indoor formaldehyde levels. *Atmospheric Environment*, *23*, 1695–1698.
- Goetsch, D. L. (2008). Occupational Safety and Health for Technologies, Engineers and Managers. 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Goetsch, D. L. (2010). *The Basic of Occupational Safety*. New Jersey: Prentice Hall. pp. 1-15
- Heerwagen, D., & Connolly, B. (2004). *Passive and active environmental controls: informing the schematic designing of buildings*. McGraw-Hill Higher Education.

- Heudorf, U., Neitzert, V., & Spark, J. (2009). Particulate matter and carbon dioxide in classrooms - The impact of cleaning and ventilation. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 212, 45–55.
- Hodgson, A. T., Faulkner, D., Sullivan, D. P., DiBartolomeo, D. L., Russell, M. L., & Fisk, W. J. (2003). Effect of outside air ventilation rate on volatile organic compound concentrations in a call center. *Atmospheric Environment*, *37*, 5517–5527.
- Hopkins, A. (2006). What are we to make of safe behaviour programs?, *Safety Science*, 44, 583–597.
- Hui, P. S., Wong, L. T., & Mui, K. W. (2007). Evaluation of professional choice of sampling locations for indoor air quality assessment. *Building and Environment*, 42, 2900–2907.
- Hussin, N. H. M., Sann, L. M., Shamsudin, M. N., & Hashim, Z. (2011). Characterization of Bacteria and Fungi Bioaerosol in the Indoor Air of selected Primary Schools in Malaysia. *Indoor and Built Environment*, 20, 607–617.
- Ibrahim, A. H., Ramli, N. A., & Latif, M.T. (2006). Elemental Chracterization of Airborne Particulate Matter (APM) in Parit Buntar and Nibong Tebal. Journal of Engineering and Education, 3, 164-170
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, IARC (2004). Overall evaluation of Carcinogenicity to Humans, Formaldehyde. Lyon, France: 18 Monographs, Series, 88, pp. 404-409
- International Organization for Standardization, ISO (2009). *Quality Management Systems*. Switzerland: ISO 9001:2008
- Jarnstrom, H., Saarela, K., Kalliokoski, P. & Pasanen, A.L. (2008). Comparison of VOC and Ammonia Emissions from Individual PVC Materials, Adhesives and from Complete Structures. *Environment International*, 34, 420-427
- Joshi, S. M. (2000). Effect of the maternal Bio-Social determinants on the birth weight in a slum area of Greater Mumbai. *Indian journal of community medicine*, 25(3), 121.
- Joshi, S. M. (2008). The sick building syndrome. *Indian journal of occupational and environmental medicine*, *12*(2), 61.

- Juliana, J., Norhafizalina, O., Azman, Z. A., & Kamaruzaman, J. (2009). Indoor air quality and sick building syndrome in Malaysian buildings. *Global Journal* of Health Science, 1(2), P126.
- Kim, S. S., Kang, D. H., Choi, D. H., Yeo, M. S., & Kim, K. W. (2008). Comparison of strategies to improve indoor air quality at the pre-occupancy stage in new apartment buildings. *Building and Environment*, 43, 320–328.
- Klánová, J., Kohoutek, J., Hamplová, L., Urbanová, P., & Holoubek, I. (2006).
  Passive air sampler as a tool for long-term air pollution monitoring: Part 1.
  Performance assessment for seasonal and spatial variations. *Environmental Pollution*, 144(2), 393-405.
- Koren, H. & Bisesi, M. (2002). Biological, Chemical and Physical Agents of Environmentally Related Disease. 4th ed. Vol. 1, Lewis, Boca Raton, FL: Handbook of Environmental Health
- Kraenzmer, M. (1999). Modeling and continuous monitoring of indoor air pollutants for identification of sources and sinks. *Environment international*,25(5), 541-551.
- Lahtinen, M., Huuhtanen, P., Vähämäki, K., Kähkönen, E., Mussalo-Rauhamaa, H.,
   & Reijula, K. (2004). Good practices in managing work-related indoor air problems: A psychosocial perspective. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 46, 71–85.
- Latif, M.T., Rozali, M.O. & Zaharizam, J. (2006). Air Quality in Kajang Town, Selangor. *Malays J. Anal. Sci. 10*(2). pp. 275-284
- Lee, R. J., & Van Orden, D. R. (2008). Airborne asbestos in buildings. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 50, 218–225.
- Lee, R. J., & Van Orden, D. R. (2008). Airborne asbestos in buildings.*Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 50(2), 218-225.
- Lee, S., Kwon, G., Joo, J., Kim, J. T., & Kim, S. (2012). A finish material management system for indoor air quality of apartment buildings (FinIAQ). *Energy and Buildings*, 46, 68–79.
- Leman, A.M., Husain, A., Omar, A.R., Yusof, M.Z.M., Hasan, S., & Nordin (2006). The Development of Walk-in Stability Chamber for Modeling and

92



Simulation. *The 9th International Conference on Quality in Research (QiR)*, Depok, Indonesia.

- Leman, A.M., Omar, A.R., & Yusof, M.Z.M. (2008). The Development of Indoor Air Pollution Monitoring System (IAPMOS) Towards Sustainable Work Environment, Indoor Air. *The 11th International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate,* Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Leman, A.M., Omar, A.R., & Yusof, M.Z.M. (2009). Monitoring of Toxic Gases Exposure in Welding Process of Small and Medium Industries. *The International Conference on Advance in Mechanical Engineering (ICAME* 2009), Concorde Hotel, Shah Alam, Selangor, Malaysia.
- Levin, H. (2000) Design and Construction of Healthy and Sustainable Buildings. *Healthy Buildings 2000*, Helsinki, Finland: Northeast Energy Efficiency Partnerships Incorporated. Vol. 4, pp. 13-22.
- Li, A., Liu, Z., Liu, Y., Xu, X., & Pu, Y. (2012). Experimental study on microorganism ecological distribution and contamination mechanism in supply air ducts. *Energy and Buildings*, 47, 497–505.
- Li, Y.G., Leung, M., Seto, W.H., Yuen, P.L., Leung, J., Kwen, J.K., & Yu, S.C.T. (2008). Factors Affecting Ventilation Effectiveness In SARS Wards. *Hong Kong Medical Journal*. 14, 833-836.
- Lim, S., Lee, K., Seo, S., & Jang, S. (2011). Impact of regulation on indoor volatile organic compounds in new unoccupied apartment in Korea. *Atmospheric Environment*, 45, 1994–2000.
- Lippmann, M. (1992). Environmental Toxicants: Human Exposure and Their Health Effects. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York. 465-519
- Liu, H., & Zhao, Z. (2011). Prediction of the concentration and size distribution of indoor suspended particulate matter. 2011 International Conference on Electric Information and Control Engineering, ICEICE 2011: Kybernetes. pp. 4342–4345.
- Lu, T., Knuutila, A., Viljanen, M., & Lu, X. (2010). A novel methodology for estimating space air change rates and occupant CO2 generation rates from

measurements in mechanically-ventilated buildings. *Building and Environment*, 45, 1161–1172.

- Malaysia (1984). Uniform Building By Laws. 14<sup>th</sup> ed. Minister/State Authority. Malaysia: MDC Publishers Sdn. Bhd.
- Malaysia, M. M. S. (2013). Department of Statistics, Malaysia. CHART,54(53.4), 53-5.
- Martimo, K. P. (2006). Reducing Sickness Absenteeism at The Workplace, What to do and How?. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health.* 32(4), 253-255
- Michael, G. A., William, J. F., & Joan, M. D. (2000). Indoor Carbon Dioxide Concentrations and SBS in Office Workers, *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings*. USA. Indoor Environment Department, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. 1. pp. 133-138
- Missia, D. A., Demetriou, E., Michael, N., Tolis, E. I., & Bartzis, J. G. (2010). Indoor exposure from building materials: a field study. *Atmospheric Environment*, 44(35), 4388-4395.
- Morawska, L., Jamriska, M., Guo, H., Jayaratne, E. R., Cao, M. & Summerville, S. (2009). Variation in Indoor Particle Number and PM<sub>2.5</sub> Concentrations in a Radio Station Surrounded By Busy Roads Before and After an Upgrade of the HVAC System. *Building and Environment*. 44, pp. 76-84
- Mullen, J. (2004). Investigating factors that influence individual safety behavior at work. *Journal of Safety Research*, *35*, 275–285.
- Nabinger, S. J., Persily, A. K., & Dols, W. S. (1994). A study of ventilation and carbon dioxide in an office building. *Transactions-American Society Of Heating Refrigerating And Air Conditioning Engineers*, 100, 1264-1264.
- Nazaroff, W. W. (2004). Indoor particle dynamics. *Indoor Air, Supplement, 14*, 175–183.
- Nicholas, C., & Wangel, A. (1991). Safety at Work in Malaysia: An Anthology of Current Research (No. 6). Institute of Advanced Studies, University of Malaya.
- Nims, D. K. (1999). Basic of Industrial Hygiene. United State: John Wiley and Sons Inc. pp. 149-168



- Ole Fanger, P. (2001). Human requirements in future air-conditioned environments. *International Journal of Refrigeration*, 24, 148–153.
- Ole Fanger, P. (2001). Human requirements in future air-conditioned environments. *International Journal of Refrigeration*, 24(2), 148-153.
- Pereira, M. L., Graudenz, G., Tribess, A., & Morawska, L. (2009). Determination of particle concentration in the breathing zone for four different types of office ventilation systems. *Building and Environment*, 44, 904–911.
- Persily, A. K. (1997). Evaluating building IAQ and ventilation with indoor carbon dioxide. *Transactions-American Society Of Heating Refrigerating And Air Conditioning Engineers*, 103, 193-204.
- Pingle, S. (2009). Safe and healthy workplace-the CASH counter. *Asian-Pacific Newsletter on Occupational Health and Safety*, *16*(1), 8-10.
- Rantanen, J., & Lehtinen, S. (1999). Psychological stress at work. proceedings of the international symposium. Espoo, Finland: Finnish Institute of Occupational Health.
- Reese, C. D. (2008). *Industrial safety and health for infrastructure services*. New York: CRC Press.
- Reijula, K. & Haahtela, T. (1998). Indoor Air Problems: Assessment of Exposure And Examination of The Patients. *Suom Lääk L.* 53. pp. 4215-4230.
- Rim, D., & Novoselac, A. (2010). Ventilation effectiveness as an indicator of occupant exposure to particles from indoor sources. *Building and Environment*, 45, 1214–1224.
- Sheet Metal, & Air Conditioning Contractors' National Association, SMACNA. (1998). Indoor Air Quality: A Systems Approach. US: Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors' National Association.
- Shen, X., & Chen, Z. (2010). Coupled heat and formaldehyde migration in dry porous building materials. *Building and Environment*, 45, 1470–1476.
- Simon, M., & Butala, V. (2004). The influence of indoor environment in office buildings on their occupants: Expected-unexpected. *Building and Environment*, 39, 289–296.

Social Security Organization, SOCSO (2012), Annual Report. Malaysia

- Spengler, J. D., Samet, J. M., & Mccarthy, J. F. (2000). *Indoor Air Quality Handbook*. New York: McGraw-Hill
- The Science Group of American Conference of Industrial Hygienists, ACGIH (2013). Threshold Limit Values (TLVs®) and Biological Exposure Indices (BEIs®). United States: American Conference of Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH)
- Uhde, E., & Salthammer, T. (2007). Impact of reaction products from building materials and furnishings on indoor air quality—a review of recent advances in indoor chemistry. *Atmospheric Environment*, 41(15), 3111-3128.
- Wallace, L. (2006). Indoor sources of ultrafine and accumulation mode particles: size distributions, size-resolved concentrations, and source strengths. *Aerosol science and technology*, 40(5), 348-360.
- Wolkoff, P. (2013). Indoor air pollutants in office environments: Assessment of comfort, health, and performance. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 216, 371–394.
- Wolkoff, P., Clausen, P. A., Jensen, B., Nielsen, G. D., & Wilkins, C. K. (1997). Are we measuring the relevant indoor pollutants?. *Indoor Air*, 7(2), 92-106.
- Wong, L. T., & Mui, K. W. (2007). Evaluation on four sampling schemes for assessing indoor air quality. *Building and Environment*, 42, 1119–1125.
- Wong, L. T., Mui, K. W., & Hui, P. S. (2006). A statistical model for characterizing common air pollutants in air-conditioned offices. *Atmospheric Environment*, 40, 4246–4257.
- Xu, Y., & Little, J. C. (2006). Predicting emissions of SVOCs from polymeric materials and their interaction with airborne particles. *Environmental science & technology*, 40(2), 456-461.
- Yamataki, H., Suwazono, Y., Okubo, Y., Miyamoto, T., Uetani, M., Kobayashi, E.,
  & Nogawa, K. (2006). Health status of workers in small and medium-sized companies as compared to large companies in Japan. *Journal of occupational health*, 48(3), 166-174.
- Yu, C., & Crump, D. (1998). A review of the emission of VOCs from polymeric materials used in buildings. *Building and Environment*, 33, 357–374.
- Zummo, S. M., & Karol, M. H. (1996). Indoor air pollution: Acute adverse health effects and host susceptibility. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 58(6).



Zuraimi, M. S., Roulet, C. A., Tham, K. W., Sekhar, S. C., David Cheong, K. W., Wong, N. H., & Lee, K. H. (2006). A comparative study of VOCs in Singapore and European office buildings. *Building and Environment*, 41, 316–329.